ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

No. 176, November 1989

LOAN-LOSS PROVISIONS AND THIRD-WORLD DEBT

GRAHAM BIRD



INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS PRINCETON UNIVERSITY PRINCETON, NEW JERSEY

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE are published by the International Finance Section of the Department of Economics of Princeton University. The Section sponsors this series of publications, but the opinions expressed are those of the authors. The Section welcomes the submission of manuscripts for publication in this and its other series. See the Notice to Contributors at the back of this Essay.

The author of this Essay, Graham Bird, is Professor of Economics and Head of the Department of Economics at The University of Surrey, England. He was a Visiting Professor at Tufts University while this Essay was being prepared and has been an adviser to various international organizations. Professor Bird is the author and editor of many books and scholarly articles, of which the most recently published is *Third World Debt: The Search for a Solution* (1989). He is currently engaged in a major research project dealing with the role of the IMF in the 1990s.

PETER B. KENEN, Director International Finance Section

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

No. 176, November 1989

LOAN-LOSS PROVISIONS AND THIRD-WORLD DEBT

GRAHAM BIRD



INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS
PRINCETON UNIVERSITY
PRINCETON, NEW JERSEY

INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION EDITORIAL STAFF

Peter B. Kenen, Director
Ellen Seiler, Editor
Lillian Spais, Editorial Aide
Lalitha H. Chandra, Subscriptions and Orders

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Bird, Graham R.

Loan-loss provisions and Third-World debt / Graham Bird.

p. cm. — (Essays in international finance, ISSN 0071-142X; no. 176)

Încludes bibliographical references.

ISBN 0-88165-083-8

1. Loan loss reserves—Developing countries. 2. Debt relief—Developing countries. I. Title. II. Series.

HG1656. D44B58 1989 336.3'435'091724—dc20

89-28013

CIP

Copyright © 1989 by International Finance Section, Department of Economics, Princeton University.

All rights reserved. Except for brief quotations embodied in critical articles and reviews, no part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means, including photocopy, without written permission from the publisher.

Printed in the United States of America by Princeton University Press at Princeton, New Jersey.

International Standard Serial Number: 0071-142X International Standard Book Number: 0-88165-083-8 Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 89-28013

CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION	1
2	THE FACTUAL AND STATISTICAL BACKGROUND	
	OF PROVISIONING	2
3	FACTORS INFLUENCING PROVISIONING	8
	Environmental Factors	S
	Bank-Specific Factors	13
	Assigning Relative Importance	16
4	IMPLICATIONS OF PROVISIONING	18
	For the Banks	18
	For the Indebted Countries	23
	For the Official Sector	24
5	ARE PROVISIONS ADEQUATE?	25
6	CONCLUDING REMARKS	28
	REFERENCES	30

LIST OF TABLES

1	Bank Reserves against LDC Loans, by Country of Origin, 1986	4
2	Additional Provisions against LDC Debt by the Major U.S. Banks, and Their Effects, Mid-1987	7
3	Reserves of Major U.S. Banks as a Percentage of Exposure, by Degree of Exposure, September 1987	26

LOAN-LOSS PROVISIONS AND THIRD-WORLD DEBT

1 Introduction

The development of the practice by commercial banks of "provisioning" against loans to developing countries can be understood only in the context of the evolving third-world debt problem. The seeds of the debt problem were sown following the first major hike in oil prices in 1973. Developing countries facing large balance-of-payments deficits were attracted to the alternative of financing, which enabled them to adjust more slowly than would otherwise have been necessary. Even some oil-rich countries were encouraged to borrow on the strength of their oil resources. The required financing was provided in large measure through the intermediation of the private international banks; the official sector adopted a relatively muted role.¹

By 1982 there were signs that these loans were running into problems. When Mexico announced that it would be unable to meet its debt obligations, the debt "crisis" became a matter of wide public debate and concern. Although commentators have proposed a series of reforms, in practical terms the crisis has been managed largely by a combination of adjustment in the debtor countries and rescheduling of loans.

Initially, there were some indications that this approach, applied in a flexible fashion, would prove adequate, and there were even suggestions in the press in late 1984 and early 1985 that the crisis was over. Such optimism was short-lived and, in retrospect, depended crucially on the ability of the United States to sustain the rapid economic growth it had achieved in 1984. By the mid-1980s there were many signs that the global debt problem was in fact getting worse rather than better, and there were some signs that the debtor countries might begin to adopt a more aggressive posture in their negotiations with creditors. In July 1985, for example, the government of

The recent additional provisioning against loans to developing countries by J. P. Morgan, Chase Manhattan, and Manufacturers Hanover occurred too late to be alluded to in this essay, which was originally drafted in 1987. These events, however, serve to highlight the remarks made here.

¹ The official sector did respond in some ways. For example, the International Monetary Fund established an Oil Facility to assist the countries that were most hurt by the oil price rise.

Peru announced that it would limit its payments of principal and interest to a maximum of 10 percent of the country's export earnings.

Toward the end of 1985, the United States tried to seize the initiative by putting forward the Baker Plan, a set of proposals designed to encourage more lending to heavily indebted developing countries in return for structural adjustment on their part. Unfortunately, the plan had very little discernible impact on the quantity of financial flows. Much of 1986 was dominated by the attempts of creditors to negotiate an acceptable package of policies with Mexico under the auspices of the IMF, and these were eventually successful. In February 1987, however, Brazil suspended interest payments on part of its international debt. It was against this background that Citibank decided to add \$3 billion to its existing loan-loss reserves in May 1987, a move that was fairly quickly matched by other money-center banks in the United States and by many international banks elsewhere.

This essay differs from broader reviews of the commercial banks' role in third-world debt (e.g., Sachs and Huizinga, 1987; Sachs, 1989; and Bird, 1989) by concentrating on certain aspects of this spate of commercial-bank provisioning. It is divided into four principal parts. Section 2 examines the nature and extent of provisioning, drawing out differences among countries and explaining the implications of provisioning for banks' balance sheets. Section 3 looks at the factors affecting the decision to provision and tries to differentiate between those of a secular and environmental nature and those of more immediate and bank-specific relevance. Section 4 examines the implications of provisioning for both creditors and debtors. Section 5 asks whether provisioning has been adequate. A concluding section appraises provisioning as a contribution to the resolution of the third-world debt problem.

2 The Factual and Statistical Background of Provisioning

Although the phrases are sometimes used interchangeably, there is an important distinction between writing off or writing down loans and provisioning against them. When writing off or writing down a loan, the creditor institution reduces the book value of the asset on its balance sheet to a level that more accurately reflects its net present value. Banks have generally been reluctant to write down loans and have done so only against claims on a fairly narrow range of countries. Instead, what they have done is to "provision" against certain loans by putting aside reserves in low-earning but risk-free assets in order to cover the possibility that repayments of principal or payments of interest may not be made. Provisioning is therefore the same as building up loan-loss reserves.

These reserves may be "general" or "specific." General reserves repre-

sent the normal business practice of allowing for the statistical probability that a certain proportion of loans will encounter problems. Specific provisions, by contrast, are set aside against loans to a particular country or group of countries where a specific risk has been identified.² If for no other reason, the distinction between general and specific provisions is significant because creditors are not allowed tax deductions against general provisions (in the United States, this has been the case only since 1986, when the federal tax law was changed), whereas they may be able to negotiate some tax reductions against specific provisions.

The setting aside of reserves reduces the provisioning institution's earnings and therefore has an adverse effect on profits. While creditors reduce their risk exposure by provisioning, they must pay a price in terms of reduced short-term profits. However, neither writing down a loan nor provisioning against it reduces the debtor's contractual obligations. Such relief is forthcoming only when the lending institution translates the writedown into a reduction in debt-service payments from the debtor. In that case, the bank is forgiving a proportion of the debt.

To provide some factual and statistical background against which to assess the causes and effects of provisioning, the following questions are examined here: (a) How much provisioning or reserving by the banks has occurred, and does the practice vary among banks, across countries, and over time? (b) Do tax and regulatory environments differ in their treatment of provisioning? (c) To what extent does the provisioning by banks that has occurred reflect the discount on less-developed-country (LDC) debt observed in the secondary market?

Major difficulties stand in the way of comprehensive answers to these questions: the lack of data concerning provisioning against LDC loans, the confidentiality of much of the data, and the difficulty of getting clear responses from some countries on issues such as the position and attitudes of the regulators and the tax authorities. Most of the data used in this essay are drawn from IBCA (International Bank Credit Analysis Group, London) sources, although even these data are constrained by the factors just listed.

Table 1 shows the percentages reserved against loans to developing countries at the end of 1986. It also reveals important differences among banks even within the same country. In the United States, moreover, there is a marked contrast between the money-center banks and the regional banks. Furthermore, although many banks do not provide information concerning their reserves against individual countries, what information is available

² Most provisioning by commercial banks has been presented publicly as being against a group of, say, thirty-five countries. Actually, the banks arrive at the overall provision by aggregating notional provisions against individual countries.

TABLE 1

BANK RESERVES AGAINST LDC LOANS,
BY COUNTRY OF ORIGIN, 1986

Country	Reserves				
Belgium	15				
Canada	10-15				
France	33-45				
Germany	35-70 (40)				
Japan	5				
Netherlands	24-26				
Spain	7-68 (10)				
Sweden	35-80 (50)				
Switzerland	30-60 (40)				
U.K.	6-10				
U.S.	5				

NOTE: Figures in parentheses are approximate average where there is a considerable range among banks.

SOURCE: IBCA Banking Analysis, London.

suggests that there may be quite wide divergences. Thus, for a bank with an overall provision of, say, 25 percent, the reserve against one Latin American country may be as low as 5 percent, while that against another may be as high as 35 percent.³

What Table 1 does not show is the absolute exposures of the banks, by country of origin, to the highly indebted countries, or their exposures relative to bank capital or to their overall portfolio of loans. Data on absolute exposures reveal the dominance of the U.S. banks, with over 32 percent of worldwide bank exposure to Latin American countries in 1986. Exposures were also large for banks in Japan (12.6 percent) and the United Kingdom (12.3 percent), smaller for banks in France (8.8 percent), Germany (7.7 percent), and Canada (7.1 percent), and much smaller for banks in Switzerland (2.8 percent) and Italy (1.4 percent). But note that the total of portfolios of the U.S. commercial banks was also much larger than that of banks in other countries.

³ These figures are derived from data on the practices of Dutch banks in 1986, as reported to IBCA Banking Analysis, but similar divergences seem to exist among other banks.

To some extent, the varying levels of provisioning may reflect the traditionally different attitudes of bankers throughout the world to the optimum point of any return/risk tradeoff. German bankers, for example, frequently criticize the rapid expansion of U.S. bank loans to developing countries during the 1970s precisely because of the risks involved and because of their own more prudent approach to lending.

How important are differences in the tax and regulatory environments in explaining international differences in provisioning? Before we can offer some answers to this question in section 3, we need to identify the differences in the regulatory and tax environments across countries.⁴

In the United States, most large banks are regulated by the Federal Reserve Board or by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency. The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) also has a hand in determining provisioning regulations, as well as rules relating to capital adequacy. The regulators' attitudes to provisioning are coordinated through the Inter-Agency Country Exposure Review Committee (ICERC), the agency that sets standards for bank treatment of loans to countries that are not servicing their debts. Under existing regulations, U.S. banks must hold reserves equal to at least 5.5 percent of total assets, and capital equal to at least 6.0 percent of total assets. There are no further regulations relating to general provisions, but the regulatory bodies can require banks to make specific provisions against individual countries in the form of allocatedtransfer risk reserves (ATRRs). In the first year after such a requirement is imposed, the ATRR must cover 10 percent of the loans, rising to 15 percent in subsequent years. Such reserves are tax deductible, but they have not been much used. 5 While U.S. banks can no longer claim any portion of general provisions against taxes, such provisions do count as part of the banks' primary-capital base and therefore do not damage the banks' position with respect to the regulations relating to capital adequacy. Furthermore, U.S. banks can claim a tax allowance for actual "writedowns" against general provisions. In principle, by offering more lenient tax treatment regulators can encourage banks to offer some form of debt relief to debtor countries.

In Germany, the tax laws are particularly favorable to provisioning and permit reserves to be deducted from taxable profits. Furthermore, the

⁴ The Cooke Committee representing central banks has made proposals to impose more international uniformity on the measurement and standards of capital adequacy. By 1992 it is envisaged that banks would have equity capital equal to 4 percent of their total assets.

⁵ The ICERC may classify debts as substandard, value-impaired, or a loss. For a debt to be classified as value-impaired, the debtor must fulfill more than one of four conditions: it has not paid interest for six months, it is failing to comply with an IMF-supported program, it has failed to meet its rescheduling terms for a year, and there is little prospect for an orderly restoration of debt service in the near future.

financial authorities have actively encouraged German banks to be prudent in the valuation of their claims on developing countries.

French regulations are slightly less liberal; provisions against sovereign debt are tax deductible only if the debtor country is on a list of forty-one countries compiled by France's Banking Commission. For such countries, provisions are deductible from taxable profits up to 100 percent of the face value of the loan.

By contrast, in Japan banks may not deduct more than 20 percent of their provisions from taxable profits. Moreover, regulations permit them to hold reserves against no more than 5 percent of their total loans.

In the United Kingdom, regulators have traditionally encouraged the banks to appraise the adequacy of their provisions with respect to their LDC loans, without setting formal minimum or maximum values. However, in August 1987 the Bank of England sent a letter to all U.K. banks with exposures in developing countries encouraging them to reconsider the adequacy of their provisions with a view to increasing them "where appropriate" to reflect "the deterioration in the prospects of their recoverability." Stressing the need for objective analysis, the Bank developed a framework. or matrix, designed to measure the extent to which the chances of full recovery had deteriorated, and therefore the extent to which provisions were justified. This was to be used as a basis for discussion between the Bank and each individual institution. The matrix was similar in many respects to those used by commercial banks in assessing country risk. Specific provisions in the United Kingdom do not count as capital, and general provisions are not tax-deductible. The tax status of specific provisions is unclear. There is certainly no presumption that they may be automatically offset against tax. Much would seem to depend on the particular negotiations between an individual bank and the tax district handling its affairs.

The large increases made by the banks to their loan-loss reserves in mid-1987 had a number of effects. In the case of the U.S. banks, as shown in Table 2, the additional provisions raised their reserves to about 25 percent of their LDC exposures, although there was considerable variation among individual banks. At the same time, the additional provisions had an adverse effect on their earnings and on the ratio between their equity and assets. Although the provisioning generally increased the ratio between primary capital and assets, it uniformly reduced the equity component of primary capital.

For the United Kingdom, the IBCA calculated that an increase in the provisions of U.K. banks to a uniform level of 30 percent would shift two of the five banks examined from profit to loss.

While this discussion describes the effects of the additional provisioning on the balance sheets of the banks, it is also important to examine the timing

TABLE 2

Additional Provisions against LDC Debt by the Major U.S. Banks, and Their Effects, Mid-1987

(dollar figures in millions)

	LDC Exposure	Additional Provision		1987 Earnings	Reserves			Reserves/	Reserves/	Non-LDC Reserves/	Common Equity/	Total Equity/
					Total	LDC	Other	Loans	Exposure	NPLs a	Assets b	Assets
Citibank	\$15,590	\$3,000	\$(2,500)	\$(1,000)	\$4,900	\$3,500	\$1,400	3.7%	22.5%	41.2%	3.30%	4.01%
BankAmerica c	10,000	1,100	(1,000)	(750)	3,300	1,800	1,500	4.5	18.0	37.2	2.44	3.13
Manufacturers Hanover	8,400	1,700	(1,400)	(1,050)	2,700	1,850	850	4.8	22.0	39.8	2.74	3.62
Chase Manhattan	8,700	1,600	(1,400)	(850)	2,700	2,000	700	4.1	23.0	36.1	3.45	4.09
J. P. Morgan d												
Chemical New York e	5,900	1,100	(1,100)	(710)	2,074	1,380	694	4.1	24.8	47.9	3.27	3.79
Bankers Trust	4,000	700	(570)	(175)	1,300	1,000	300	4.5	25.0	34.1	4.36	4.36
First Chicago	2,800	800	(700)	(435)	1,370	935	435	5.4	33.4	53.1	3.89	4.74
Security Pacific	1,850	500	(175)	150	1,300	650	650	2.9	35.1	54 .3	4.19	4.68
Wells Fargo d	1,900											
First Interstate	1,600	750	(455)	(200)	1,200	530	670	3.5	33.1	65.6	4.45	4.46

^a NPLs = nonperforming loans. Totals are for year-end 1986 and thus do not include the Brazilian loans placed on nonaccrual status in the first quarter.

NOTE: Several of the banks stated that their LDC reserves were 25% of LDC exposure, but this was accomplished by adding back the ATRR to reserves. This reserve is not added back here, and thus the ratios are slightly lower.

SOURCE: IBCA Banking Analysis, London.

b Adjusted ratios assume that the holding companies pay the same dividends in 1987 as in 1986 and that asset totals at year-end are the same as at year-end 1986.

^c BankAmerica indicated that its reserve was for 25% of its \$10 billion LDC exposure, but that ratio is achieved only after adding back about \$800 million of ATRRs and prior chargeoffs of LDC loans.

d Reserve increase announced after this table was completed.

e Adjustments made to reflect acquisition of Texas Commerce in May 1987.

of the decisions to increase reserves. As noted earlier, the initiator was Citibank, which added to its reserves on May 19, 1987. After a lapse of one week, Norwest and Chase Manhattan followed suit. Then, during little more than the first two weeks of June, another fifteen major U.S. banks responded by raising their provisions. A similar lagged response was seen in other parts of the world: the U.K. banks began to set aside extra provisions in mid-June.

3 Factors Influencing Provisioning

A range of factors impinges on the decision to set aside provisions. Some factors may be fairly general, affecting most banks similarly; others may be more specific to a group of banks, perhaps in a particular country, or indeed to one particular bank. The difficulty lies not so much in compiling a list of factors that might influence provisioning as in classifying these factors and assigning them relative weights. The quantity and quality of the data do not permit sophisticated empirical investigation. The empiricism here is therefore fairly casual: conclusions on the factors' relative importance are largely drawn from discussions with people involved in the actual provisioning decisions.

We begin by assuming that the banks set out to maximize expected profit. In so doing, they have to consider both return and risk, utility being a positive function of return and a negative function of risk. Bank decisions in general and decisions relating to loan-loss provisioning in particular can then be interpreted as attempts to move toward a preferred combination of return and risk.

One component of risk for bank managers is the possibility of a takeover. Decisionmakers within banks will therefore be concerned about the competitive position of their firm in the banking industry as reflected by the price of its shares on the stock market. Managerial theories of the firm that stress such factors are thus relevant here.

The time dimension is also important when analyzing the objectives of the banks. Do banks want to maximize profit in the short or the long run? It is reasonable to assume that they want a fairly stable profit performance, and they may be prepared to trade off some current profit or return to reduce risk and secure future profits.

Against this analytical background, the remainder of this section distinguishes between environmental factors—broad secular influences that created an environment in which provisioning was more likely to occur, and bank-specific factors—influences that may provide more immediate explanations of why the banks provisioned when they did. After identifying a number of factors that may have affected the decisions of banks to set aside extra loan-loss reserves, we take a brief look at two specific cases: (a) Citi-

bank's decision to add \$3 billion to its loan-loss reserves on May 19, 1987, and the related decisions of other U.S. money-center banks and (b) National Westminster Bank's decision to add £466 million to its sovereign debt provisions on June 16, 1987 and, again, the related decisions of the other U.K. clearing banks.

Environmental Factors

The economic performance of the debtor countries. Over the years, and particularly in the light of their experience since 1982, commercial banks have had to reassess the economic performance of the highly indebted developing countries to which they have made loans, and therefore to reassess the risk attached to such loans. Banks have become increasingly sensitive to risk, some might even argue overly sensitive, having perhaps paid too little attention to risk and too much attention to nominal return during the earlier phases of lending. Provisioning is a manifestation of their reassessment of the risks associated with a given portfolio of loans. As perceived risks rise, provisioning against these risks will tend to rise as well.

The economic performances of the highly indebted countries are unlikely to be perfectly positively correlated, even though all debtor countries will be similarly affected by such world economic developments as rising interest rates and increasing protectionism. This imperfect correlation will encourage banks to examine each country individually and to form views on each country's creditworthiness and the extent to which they should provision against their loans to that country. (This is so even though publicly the banks usually provision against a group of countries rather than against individual countries.) In view of this case-by-case approach by the banks, it may be misleading to look at data for a group of countries. Yet even these data give ample evidence that the economic performance of the major debtor countries has been deteriorating over recent years. Although some debtor nations have notably strengthened their current-account balances, they have frequently done so against a background of stagnating growth and falling levels of trade. Perhaps the most worrisome sign has been the falling investment ratio in many highly indebted countries. (Gross investment in the Baker Plan group of fifteen heavily indebted countries fell from 24 percent of GNP in 1982 to 17 percent in 1986. And falling import volumes suggest that fewer capital goods are being imported.) While banks may regard some measure of short-run domestic demand deflation as an appropriate component of economic adjustment, they also recognize that in the long run the ability of countries to service their debts depends on sustained economic growth. Given the central significance of investment in generating economic growth, falling investment ratios must cause creditors concern about the long-run ability of countries to cope with their debt.

At the same time that the economic performance of the highly indebted

countries was showing signs of deterioration, various debt indicators suggested that the debt position itself was getting worse. The most frequently consulted ratios, such as a country's debt-service ratio and its ratio of interest payments to exports, showed substantial deterioration. Moreover, the banks can hardly deny that the change from positive to negative net transfers may prove unsustainable under current economic growth rates and living standards in the indebted countries. The switch to negative net transfers raises the perceived benefits to these countries of debt repudiation relative to the perceived costs and brings closer the threat of default.

Provisioning can thus be viewed as an entirely appropriate response by the banks to a worsening situation. A discrete decision to provision might, of course, be a response either to a stochastic shock that weakens both the economic and the debt positions of the highly indebted countries or to a gradual and prolonged weakening of their positions. As underlying economic conditions in the debtor countries change, of course, provisioning activity can be expected to change. Thus, a decision to set aside provisions of a certain amount at a particular moment does not mean that these provisions will be seen as appropriate in the future.

Since the debtor countries' economic performance can be fairly objectively monitored and is largely outside the control of the banks, it might appear that all banks would make similar provisions. This need not be the case. Banks will have different exposures in different countries, will be more or less risk-averse, and will interpret the same data differently; their perceptions of risk will vary as a result. Moreover, as we shall see, other factors influence provisioning as well, and the differences among the banks in relation to these factors may account for the variations in the extent of provisioning.

As the economic performance of the highly indebted countries has deteriorated since 1982, recommendations for solutions of the debt crisis have gone through a series of stages. At different times, they have emphasized economic adjustment in the debtor countries, rescheduling of existing debt on more and less stringent terms, and the injection of new money. An approach encompassing all these components was built into the Baker Plan of 1985.

The hope that these policies together would solve, or at least alleviate, the debt problem has not been realized. Indeed, some banks view the approach as growing less successful as time has gone on. They perceive a "weakening" of IMF conditionality in recent years. Provisioning represents a response by the banks to their frustration over the inability of the international economic system as a whole to resolve the debt problem. No longer believing that the problem will be resolved within a reasonable time span, the banks are using provisioning to legitimize the situation as it is. Provi-

sioning reflects the gradual change of mood among bankers from guarded optimism to pessimism with respect to the prospects for solving the thirdworld debt problem.

The world macroeconomic outlook. The discussion above suggests that provisioning will be affected by the past and present performance of the debtor countries, but in fact the banks are taking past performance as an indicator of future performance. It is future economic performance, after all. that will affect the countries' ability to service their debts. And that performance will of course depend on the performance of the industrialized economies of the world. Various models and estimates have been made of the degree of interdependence between the developing and industrialized worlds, and opinions vary on its significance. But, at the least, an industrialized-country scenario of falling rates of economic growth, rising rates of interest, and increasing protection would warn of the difficulties to be faced by debtor countries in their efforts to expand their export earnings and increase their debt-service payments. In these circumstances, the banks would again perceive an increase in the risk attached to a given portfolio of loans to developing countries and would be encouraged to increase their provisions against such loans. A pessimistic global economic outlook might make other bank assets look riskier as well, but developing-country loans are particularly vulnerable to the economic variables mentioned.

In the first half of 1987, bankers perceived a low-growth world economy, largely on the basis of projections from international and official agencies. It follows that their loans to developing countries began to look riskier to them.

The tax and regulatory environment. Early reports in the media suggested that Citibank's decision to add to its provisions could be explained largely in terms of certain unspecified tax advantages. Moreover, as noted in section 2, banks in countries where the tax and regulatory environment has been more supportive of provisioning, like Germany, have conventionally held somewhat higher provisions. It may nevertheless be unwise to conclude that there is a strong causal link between provisioning and the tax and regulatory environment. Prior to the change in federal tax law in 1986, for example, U.S. regulations were more liberal than those of the United Kingdom, and yet U.S. banks did not hold proportionately higher reserves. In this case, the reluctance of U.S. banks to add to their reserves almost certainly reflected their high exposure, but the example does serve to show that the tax and regulatory environment may not be a dominant factor.

This is confirmed when an intertemporal rather than cross-sectional approach is adopted. Concentrating again on the United States, the 1986 changes in the tax treatment of provisions should have made it *less* attractive to add to loan-loss reserves. Yet it was in the following year that the

U.S. money-center banks made the principal increases. Discussions with both Citibank and the U.S. Treasury confirm that the media reports of the influence of tax considerations on Citibank's decision were entirely without foundation. Indeed, Citibank held meetings with the Treasury after the bank's announcement of extra reserving in order to clarify the tax position, largely because of the confusion caused by these press reports. Similarly, the U.K. clearing banks decided to increase provisions even though the tax treatment had not yet been agreed upon. Again, the most formal statement about provisioning by the U.K. regulatory authorities was made after the additional reserves had been set aside. Those involved in the provisioning exercise do not ascribe an important role to tax and regulatory factors in explaining intertemporal changes in the extent of provisioning. Yet even though these factors have not been important in the past, they may be important in the future. It is difficult to believe that a more interventionist approach by the regulators or a clearer and more cohesive statement of the tax treatment of provisioning would be inconsequential.

Finally, it is possible that provisioning will have an effect on the tax and regulatory environment rather than the reverse. The banks may increase provisioning in an attempt to put pressure on the tax authorities to make concessions, or to forestall the imposition of formal regulations mandating reserves against specific countries.

Market valuation. The behavior of the banks may best be explained by applying the traditional theory of the firm, under which banks set out to maximize profits. But banks are also concerned about their market valuation, as reflected by their share prices, since it affects their ability to fend off potential takeovers or to acquire competitors. Thus they are sensitive to the ratings they receive from bank analysts.

Prior to the wave of extra provisioning begun by Citibank, banks were under market pressure to acknowledge the weakness of many of their developing-country loans. The pressure took various forms: a share price that was discounted in proportion to the individual bank's exposure in particular countries; the discount on the secondary-market value of developing-country debt; and, connected with these phenomena, somewhat gloomy reports by market analysts on the banking sector in general and the relatively highly exposed banks in particular. The market had discounted developing-country debt in advance of the banks, and bank provisioning can be seen as a response to and recognition of this judgment.

It is therefore not coincidental that, as banks provisioned, their share prices tended to rise (although this effect was temporary). Normally, one would expect share price and profitability to be positively related; in this case, the market was apparently welcoming what it saw as a more realistic approach by the banks. The fact that the banks had formally come to accept

the risks associated with their developing-country loans raised market confidence.

Furthermore, it was partly through the market mechanism that actions by key debtor nations impacted on the banks' provisioning decisions. Peru's limitation of debt servicing may have had relatively little effect on the market's mood, but Brazil's suspension of interest payments had a strong impact. Through this indirect route, if not through more direct routes to be outlined below, Brazil's actions help explain why the banks took the decisions they did at the time they did.

Bank-Specific Factors

Changing methods of risk assessment. The literature is rife with suggestions that during the 1970s the banks' techniques for assessing risk were not very scientific, but their methods may have improved since then (see, e.g., Bird, 1986). Loans are continually being reassessed, so it might be expected that changing techniques would lead to changing perceptions of risk. That would explain why developing-country loans have gradually come to be regarded as more risky by the banks that made them. It would appear, however, that modifications in country-risk analysis are not an important factor, because the traditional methods of risk analysis would also be suggesting increased risk. Furthermore, events since 1982 have made the banks more averse to risk than they were before.

Internal adjustment within the banks. In the literature, the emphasis is usually on the need for adjustment by debtor countries as a result of their acquisition of debt and its related obligations. While this need cannot be denied, it is also true that developing-country debt has brought about a need for adjustment by the banks that made the loans. For some time, banks have been engaged in this process of adjustment by strengthening their capital bases and looking for new and more secure lines of business. Although some banks have pursued this process more successfully than others, the trend has been fairly general. As a result, banks apparently now feel strong enough to shoulder the cost of provisioning.

Growth in other lines of business is unlikely to be the only component of the banks' internal adjustment. While they are without doubt eager to take some of their developing-country loans off their books, that is hard to do when the loans are carried at full face value on their balance sheets but are discounted in the secondary market. Provisioning, which essentially recognizes the market valuation, gives the banks much more flexibility in managing their portfolio of loans and can be seen as another necessary component in the banks' strategy for handling their developing-country exposure.

The competitive process and bank strategy. It must be remembered that banks are in competition with one another. Whatever market segmentation

exists is not sufficiently pronounced to give banks effective areas of monopoly. The structure of the banking industry in most countries makes it possible for large banks to identify their principal competitors, and they compete by means of weapons involving both the range and the prices of the services they offer their customers. They also compete by means of marketing and advertising. In view of the importance of competition among the banks, we can assume that a decision made by one bank will take into account its effects on competitor banks, and, in turn, their likely responses.

In such a market environment, firms will be inclined to take actions they deem to be *relatively* advantageous. Even a move that hurts short-run earnings and profits may be attractive if it forces competitors to follow suit with still more damaging effects for them, because the initiating firm will improve its relative position in the industry. Provisioning is such a move; it affects earnings, profits, and share prices. Thus its implications for a bank's competitive position in the industry are likely to influence the decision.

The importance of this factor depends on how wide the differences are among banks in their ability to set aside provisions and on how aggressively competitive the relatively stronger banks are. In a highly competitive environment, possibly with excess capacity in the banking industry, a decision by one bank to raise its provisions might even be viewed as a predatory policy akin to the practice of predatory pricing in other industries.⁶

The more profitable a bank is and the greater its ability to foster and develop other lines of business, the more inclined it will be to set aside relatively large provisions. In general, the banks with the smallest exposures in developing countries will be inclined to set aside the largest proportionate provisions against these loans. In addition, some banks may be in a better position to exploit the opportunity for debt-equity swaps, which, as we see later, are facilitated by provisioning. A bank with a relatively wide network of branches and with good information about investment opportunities in developing countries may be more enthusiastic about such swaps and therefore more eager to prepare the ground for them than other banks.

The politics of decisionmaking. Not only financial and economic factors affect decisions made by banks. Banks are bureaucratic structures, and decisions will reflect managerial goals. Changing managerial regimes within any firm may cause a shift in policy. An incoming chairman may, for example, wish to distance himself (or herself) from decisions made by a predecessor and to impose a new personality and authority. An outgoing chairman may wish to secure the company's position before departing in order to avoid the personal risk of being blamed later for ill-founded decisions.

⁶ Some commentators have identified a new era of entrepreneurial competitive spirit. Similarly, and graphically, the Chairman of Citibank, John Reed, has been described by a fellow banker as the "Rambo of the money-center banks."

While it is difficult to model these factors and treat them rigorously, those who have worked in large organizations recognize that personalities and internal organizational politics are often important influences on decision-making. It would therefore be unwise to ignore them when trying to explain commercial-bank provisioning.

The games theory of debtor-creditor relations. Provisioning by the banks has not been an isolated action. It represents one component in an ongoing set of negotiations and relationships between debtor countries and creditor banks. The debtors wish to minimize their servicing obligations without damaging their future access to markets, and the banks wish to maximize receipts, perhaps by agreeing to terms that are not so stringent as to encourage debtors to opt for all-out default. In such negotiations, the participants will constantly be "positioning" and trying to send each other "signals" designed to strengthen their own bargaining stance. A new position adopted by one side will induce a change in the position adopted by the other side (for a fuller analysis of the bargaining positions of creditors and debtors, see Cohen, 1988).

In this context, the banks' decisions to increase their provisioning against claims on developing countries can be interpreted as a signal to debtors in advance of forthcoming negotiations. It might be initiated by the banks, or it might represent a response to a perceived change of position by a particular debtor or group of debtors. But the signal transmitted by increased provisioning is ambiguous. From one point of view, it can be seen as a softening of the banks' position, since it implies recognition by the banks that they are unlikely to receive full payment on their developing-country loans. The whole rationale of provisioning is associated with such increased risk. From this angle, increased provisioning signals that the banks are now in a better position, and are more willing, to make concessions to the debtors.

Bankers vigorously deny that this is the signal they are sending via provisioning. Indeed, they downplay the entire game-theoretic approach. If provisioning means anything, they argue, it suggests that the banks will adopt a "tougher" or "more realistic" position vis-à-vis borrowers in rescheduling negotiations. The logic here seems to involve two points: First, the banks are now in a better position to "take a hit" on their LDC loans. And, second, since provisions are now being set aside against such loans, it is going to be more difficult for debtor countries to attract new money from the banks.

While there is some truth in the second point, which is examined more fully in section 4, the first point is questionable. The demonstration by the banks that they are in a stronger position to withstand a "hit" may actually make it *more* likely that they will have to sustain one. Bankers' statements that provisioning does not represent a softer position and may indeed represent a harder one would seem to be designed merely to limit the damage

to their bargaining position. The banks' chances of being fully repaid are not enhanced by evidence that they admit its improbability.

This uncertainty about the debtors' interpretation of bank provisioning makes it difficult to believe that the increase in provisioning in mid-1987 was purely a bargaining response to the Brazilian decision to suspend interest payments early in 1987.

Of course, banks will be concerned not only about how their decisions are interpreted by the debtor countries but also about what they communicate to the official sector. The banks feel that excessive pressure has been put on them to provide new money in recent negotiations—in particular those involving Mexico—and see themselves as often assuming the role of lender of last resort. Thus they were pleased to send a message, via provisioning, that new money would be less available in the future, and thereby to put more pressure on the official sector. This was especially so because the banks have been critical of certain elements of the official sector, notably the Paris Club, the export-guarantee agencies, and, latterly, the IMF.

Although this discussion has lumped all the banks together, there may be slight, but still important, differences among banks in the signals they wish to send to individual debtor countries. A bank with a relatively large exposure in a particular country may be inclined to adopt a different approach from a bank with a smaller exposure.

Assigning Relative Importance

Having identified some factors that may have an influence on commercial-bank provisioning against developing-country loans, we must now assign them relative importance in explaining the spate of additional commercial-bank provisioning that occurred in mid-1987.

Stated most extremely, if the economic and debt positions of the highly indebted countries had not deteriorated, there would have been no need for banks to provision. Yet the deterioration was gradual and does not explain the timing of provisioning.

The extra loan-loss reserves set aside by the U.S. money-center banks were a response to the lead set by Citibank. The other banks provisioned largely to defend their market positions. Most representatives of such banks suggest that they would not have set aside extra provisions had it not been for the Citibank move. The question then is why Citibank decided to increase its provisions. Some guidance is provided by Citibank's own account, which emphasizes market pressures and the desire to strengthen

⁷ Subsequently, in December 1987, Brazil agreed with its Bank Advisory Committee to correct its interest-rate arrears under an arrangement that sees the banks disbursing \$3 billion to Brazil and Brazil paying creditor banks \$4.5 billion in interest payments.

its balance sheet in order to gain more flexibility in its operations and to pursue debt-equity swaps. We can assume, however, that Citibank would not necessarily tell the whole story. The consensus among competitors and commentators is that there were other important factors.

First, there was the desire to gain a competitive advantage over other U.S. money-center banks. The Citibank announcement was carefully orchestrated and well marketed, and it undoubtedly embarrassed some of the other banks. In absolute terms, Citibank was more heavily exposed in developing countries at the end of 1986 than any of the other U.S. money-center banks, but its exposure-to-equity ratio was well below that of Bank of America and Manufacturers Hanover. However, its exposure-to-equity ratio was similar to that of Chase Manhattan and Chemical Bank, somewhat above that of Bankers Trust, and well above that of the others. Citibank was therefore not in a uniformly stronger position to set aside provisions, but it was in a stronger position than its closest competitors, particularly given its aggressive attitude toward debt-equity swaps.

Second, there was the personality of the recently appointed Citibank chairman, which suggests to some observers that internal bank politics, as described earlier, were an important factor.

Of much less importance because of its ambiguity was Citibank's desire to send a coded message to debtors, and to Brazil in particular. Nor, apparently, was the tax position important, in spite of suggestions in early press reports that tax advantages lay at the heart of the decision. Similarly, the regulatory environment was apparently of little relevance, except to the extent that Citibank was anxious to forestall moves that would tighten regulations by requiring greater specific provisioning.⁸

A similar story emerges from an examination of the additional provisioning undertaken by the clearing banks in the United Kingdom. Here again the process was led by the bank regarded as perhaps the most aggressively competitive, the National Westminster Bank. Moreover, Nat West, with relatively low loan exposures in developing countries, was in the strongest position to provision against such loans. As with the Citibank move, Nat West's additional provisioning strengthened its market position, inducing the other clearing banks to take similar measures. The regulatory environment and the tax position in the United Kingdom with respect to provisioning do not seem to have had a significant impact here either. Although U.K. banks had been encouraged by bank regulators—essentially the Bank of England—to review the adequacy of their provisions, the tax treatment of provisioning was undefined at the time Nat West made its deci-

⁸ For an alternative analysis of the Citibank move that came to my attention too late to be fully integrated into this essay, see Guttentag and Herring (1989).

sion. Discussions with Nat West representatives also suggest that game-theoretic explanations did not have an important part to play. Instead, the feeling was that Citibank's move had altered the "market environment" and that it was therefore an appropriate time for Nat West to bring greater realism to its accounts. Nat West had a less well-articulated internal bank strategy for handling its exposure than did Citibank.

This review of the causes of provisioning points to a combination of general environmental factors and narrower, more bank-specific, factors. The overall performance of debtor countries in the mid-1980s and beyond provided little hope of short-run improvement in their ability to service their debts. The financial markets made this assessment, and it was reinforced by greater difficulties in rescheduling and by unilateral decisions of key debtors to limit their debt payments. As a result, the market discounted its valuation of the banks' loans to developing countries. Provisioning represented a response to this deteriorating situation, but it was also used in a competitive way. There was no uniform approach in the banking industry, but rather one of action and counteraction. Banks have been anxious to avoid damaging their negotiating positions when they add to provisions, but it is doubtful that the primary motive behind provisioning was to send a positioning signal to debtors. Although variations in regulatory and tax environments help to explain why banks in different countries have provisioned to different extents, changes in these environments do not seem to have had any discernible impact on provisioning over time. To the extent that provisioning decisions reflected internal bank politics, explanations can be sought more appropriately in managerial theories of the firm than in the simple theory of profit maximization.

4 Implications of Provisioning

It has been argued that the implications of increased provisioning are likely to be marginal, since it is essentially an accounting adjustment that acknowledges and formalizes pre-existing weakness in the banks' balance sheets. Although there would appear to be considerable truth in this view, it is possible to examine the potential implications of provisioning more thoroughly and systematically.

The question is approached here by looking at the implications of increased provisions for the various actors involved in the international debt problem: the banks, the indebted countries, and the official sector. The implications of provisioning for interactions among these actors are also briefly examined.

For the Banks

Provisioning brings the banks' balance sheets more in line with market per-

ceptions. Any discrepancy between the market view, as indicated by analysts' reports and the banks' stock prices, and the banks' view, as indicated by their published balance sheets, will be a cause of concern in the market and will lower confidence in the banks. Removal of the discrepancy will help restore confidence. Bankers clearly anticipated that provisioning would improve the banks' market position, and evidence confirms its positive short-run effect on bank stock prices. It also suggests that the earlier provisioners enjoyed the greatest stock-price increase.

However, it was always doubtful how durable this improvement would be. After all, provisioning does nothing to strengthen the basic position of banks that have suspect LDC loans on their books. Nor does it really raise the probability that debtors will be able to service their debt obligations, as will be seen below.

The expectation should therefore have been that provisioning would have only a short-run beneficial effect on banks' share prices, but that in the longer term the market valuation of the banks would not increase. For it to increase, the banks would have had to shed some of their LDC loans, expand into new lines of business, or continue to add to provisions. Or, alternatively, the economic performance and prospects of the debtors would have had to improve significantly.

Banks with less exposure in developing countries are likely to be in a stronger market position than those with a heavy concentration of loans, but even unexposed banks may find it difficult to distance themselves completely from the market's judgment of the heavily exposed ones. One reason is that banks' fortunes are connected through the interbank market.

Their eagerness to shed LDC debt has encouraged banks to consider the scope for debt sales and debt-equity swaps. Either one will be fostered by provisioning, which marginalizes the banks' decision to accept a discounted price for developing-country debt.

In the past, the quantity of debt swaps has been constrained by the unwillingness of U.S. banks to accept a reduction in the face value of their developing-country assets. Increasing loan-loss reserves may not be the same as writing down debt, but it does suggest that some debt will have to be written down. For this reason, one constraint on debt conversion is relaxed by provisioning.

How significant this relaxation is depends on how effective the constraint is. Some observers have argued that debt-swap activity is more effectively constrained by the limited range of suitable equity investments in highly indebted countries and by the attitudes of the debtor-country governments to foreign investment. If these are indeed the real constraints, then provisioning is unlikely to have a significant effect on the level of debt swapping.

Even among bankers, there were differences in 1987 about just how important debt swapping would be, though all agreed that provisioning had the important effect of making their loan portfolios more flexible or "malleable." Some bankers saw debt-equity swaps as integral to their internal strategy. Citibank, for example, made press announcements to this effect when reporting its additional loan-loss reserves. Others saw the potential for debt swaps as small in relation to the size of the debt involved.

In the months after the surge of provisioning in mid-1987, the strategy of the banks was more clearly revealed. There were reports in the media (see New York Times, July 27, 1988) that during the second quarter of 1988 thirteen of the largest banks in the United States sold or swapped about \$2.3 billion of their LDC loans, accepting 50 to 85 cents on the dollar, having off-loaded only about \$1.4 billion in the first quarter. At the same time, the banks were building up their capital bases. As a result, while their LDC exposure fell from \$51.6 billion in June 1987 to \$45.7 billion in June 1988, their exposure-to-equity ratio fell from 137 to 101 percent. Some of the larger U.S. regional banks reduced their portfolios of LDC loans by 33 to 50 percent within a year.

The banks' apparently increasing willingness to use provisions to offset losses from selling LDC debt at a discount can be explained in large part by the market reaction it induces. Banks with large LDC loan exposures relative to equity have seen their stocks trading at only 70 to 80 percent of their book value. They may have anticipated that shedding such loans would eliminate the discount and reduce their vulnerability to takeover. Indeed, the banks that were relatively slow to reduce their LDC exposures (Bank of America, Chase Manhattan, Chemical, and Manufacturers Hanover) between 1987 and 1988 tended to be the ones with the largest market discounts on their stock. Market concerns are further illustrated by the fact that the banks that increased their provisions to 50 percent at the end of 1987 enjoyed much greater initial appreciation in their market value than those that did not.

Moreover, the Communiqué of the Interim Committee at the Annual Meetings of the Fund and the World Bank in October 1988 argued that the so-called "menu approach" should be broadened to include voluntary market-based techniques. It encouraged creditor countries to explore whether their tax and regulatory regimes were consistent with this policy. Banks have thereby been put under greater pressure to convert out of LDC debt. Provisioning has made the banks more open to such pressure, and it has also made it harder for them to resist it.

Thus the trend would seem to be toward the further shedding of thirdworld debt by the banks. Nevertheless, the major banks were reluctant to swap their existing Mexican loans for new bonds issued by Mexico and with principal backed by U.S. Treasury bonds, as part of a plan launched in December 1987 to reduce Mexico's external debt burden. This means that the banks are not prepared to swap LDC debt regardless of the price.

While there is debate about how much impact provisioning has on debtswap activity, it is generally agreed that, other things remaining constant, provisioning will encourage banks to engage in more debt swapping. (For a more detailed analysis of debt swapping, see Bird, 1988.)

It is also generally agreed that provisioning will make banks less willing to put new money into developing countries (although Guttentag and Herring, 1989, argue that the longer-run effects may be positive). The logic is that if a bank has provisioned against old loans, it will also have to provision against new ones. Provisioning is, in effect, a tax on new LDC loans and can therefore be expected to reduce the supply.

Provisioning will tend to reduce the supply of new bank loans in other ways as well. First, small banks will become even more reluctant to participate in new-money packages, since they see the larger banks as being in a stronger financial position. It is easier now to reject the argument that the involvement of the small banks is required to sustain the larger banks and therefore the stability of financial markets. Second, inasmuch as provisioning has been used, or has been perceived to have been used, by some banks as an aggressive weapon of competition, it will be more difficult to get the necessary agreement among banks to put together new-money packages. However, as the December 1987 Brazilian deal reveals, provisioning does not make new money impossible. There are circumstances in which the banks consider it advantageous to make additional finance available to developing countries.

Even so, banks with relatively large provisions can generally be expected to favor some form of debt relief to developing countries over the injection of new money. In the past, differences in the extent of provisioning were used to explain the different attitudes of U.S. and German banks toward third-world debt: since U.S. banks held relatively low loan-loss reserves, they favored new money over any form of debt relief. For debtors, there is the gloomy prospect that, while extra provisioning may deter the U.S. money-center banks and other international banks from making new money available, it may not result in greater debt relief. Indeed, in their public pronouncements bankers have been adamant that additional provisioning does not imply that the banks are prepared to accept anything less than the full servicing and repayment obligations associated with their LDC loans. They frequently maintain that provisioning is a response to market perceptions of default risk rather than a reflection of their own perceptions.

Of course, such statements should not be accepted unquestioningly. Bankers are unlikely to admit that they do not expect full repayment. They are aware that such prophecies stand a good chance of being self-fulfilling, with debtor countries immediately adopting a tougher stance in debt negotiations. Many bankers, in fact, concede that a degree of debt forgiveness

may be appropriate for some of the smaller debtor countries that they suspect are in intractable economic difficulties. At the same time, they are worried about offering much easier terms to these countries, fearing that the large debtor nations will expect to receive terms similar to the most-favored debtor.

Thus, bankers are saying exactly what they might have been expected to say, but it is difficult to reconcile actions that prepare the banks for loan losses with words that say such losses are not expected. On the assumption that actions speak louder than words, it seems reasonable to conclude that the banks have accepted the fact that they will be forced to grant some debt forgiveness. Their words are an attempt to minimize their losses.

While the banks will choose a technique for debt relief that will minimize the amount of relief they must give, an interesting question is whether this technique is optimal from the point of view of the debtors or indeed from that of the international financial system. Does the banks' chosen route maximize the real relief for any given financial cost? In other words, is it an efficient way of handling the international debt problem? Alternatively, the banks might opt for a structured, coordinated, and centrally administered system of debt relief under which policy conditionality was applied to the debtor nations.

Banks may be forced by circumstances to agree to give some debt relief. The scenario painted by many bankers is consistent with this conclusion, though it may not be the conclusion they come to themselves. First, there is the deteriorating performance of the highly indebted countries. Second, there is the gloomy global macroeconomic outlook. Third, there is the fact that meaningful quantities of new money cannot be expected from the banks. If neither private foreign investment nor the official sector fills the projected financing gap, the only option left for debtor countries is to reduce their demand for foreign exchange. And they can do that only by imposing measures to limit imports or by inducing domestic demand deflation—unless, that is, they decide to do it by defaulting on their debt obligations.

Banks must recognize and address the issue that, while formalized debt relief does pose the problem of "moral hazard" even when policy conditionality is applied, failure to provide relief may induce outright defaults that will make their losses even greater. This, of course, is the debtors' trump card in their game-theoretic negotiations with the banks.

Although provisioning might have been a step toward granting more debt relief, the way in which it has been carried out may have damaged the cohesiveness of the banks. Coordinated approaches may be more difficult to implement now. We have seen that some U.S. money-center banks think Citibank's decision to add to its loan-loss reserves was, in part at least, a predatory move designed to embarrass them and give Citibank a competi-

tive advantage. This could damage the cooperative spirit in which debt negotiations have been handled by the banks, at a time when the growing reluctance of the small banks to participate in new loans is likely to place a heavier burden on the large money-center banks. One of the banking community's most frequent criticisms of Citibank's move is precisely that it has disrupted what was formerly a cooperative approach by the banks and that it will make the negotiation of new packages more problematical. At the same time, fragmentation among the banks strengthens the bargaining position of the debtors.

This argument should not be taken too far, however. Banks will always base their decisions on what they perceive to be in their own interest. Although greater provisioning may influence this perception, decisions in any set of debt negotiations are unlikely to be motivated simply by a desire to make life difficult for one particular competitor. Discussions among the banks may become less fraternal, but outcomes will not be very different from those that would have resulted had the decisions to add to loan-loss reserves been made collaboratively.

Bankers clearly feel that the most significant implication of provisioning for them is the extra flexibility it gives them in managing their balance sheets. Increased loan-loss reserves provide the freedom to pursue options that would otherwise be unavailable. Apart from this, they do not see enormous implications.

For the Indebted Countries

Country representatives have pointed out on many occasions that provisioning does nothing to alter their contractual debt-related obligations. Even so, there are channels through which extra commercial-bank provisioning might have consequences for the debtor countries. First, it might alter the negotiating environment by changing the relative strengths of the debtors' and creditors' bargaining positions. Just as the banks are unlikely to publicize any softening of their attitudes, the borrowing countries would not necessarily be expected to reveal their actual evaluation of the effect of provisioning on their bargaining strength. Not surprisingly, therefore, press stories have presented the debtor countries' response to provisioning as fairly neutral. There have been suggestions, however, that, since the banks have essentially written down the value of their LDC loans, developing countries should be required to pay interest only on the reduced real value of the debt.

Second, as already explained, provisioning reduces the probability of new-money flows from the banks to the highly indebted countries. If these flows are not replaced from other sources and if there is no related reduction of debt obligations, provisioning will have increased the size of negative net transfers. The sign and size of net transfers are important variables in models of debt repudiation: the larger the negative net transfers, the greater the incentive to default. If highly indebted countries do now perceive the benefits of default as exceeding the costs and act accordingly, provisioning, which was intended to adjust the banks' balance sheets to the existing debt situation, could make that situation worse. Extra provisioning, far from being the one-time action that some bankers claim, could possess its own internal dynamics. A deteriorating debt situation brought about by provisioning could result in additional provisioning and a further deterioration in the debt situation.

The third way in which extra commercial-bank provisioning can affect the debtor countries is through its impact on debt-equity swaps. This is not the place to provide a detailed analysis of the potential effects of debt-equity swaps on the "host" country. Clearly, however, such swaps reduce the external debt obligations of the debtor country and may induce additional equity investment. If these benefits outweigh the potential costs associated with exchange-rate and monetary management, debtor countries will derive net benefits from debt-equity swaps, and anything that encourages swaps will be to their advantage. And we have seen that provisioning does weaken one of the former constraints on debt-equity swaps.

Provisioning would be more relevant to debtor countries if it could be interpreted as part of a trend toward greater debt forgiveness by the banks. As yet, however, there is no evidence of such a trend. In these circumstances, provisioning's adverse effects on new-money flows could easily mean that debtor countries will suffer.

For the Official Sector

A reduced flow of new money from the banks has implications for the official sector as well for debtor countries. It increases the pressure on the World Bank and the IMF to play a larger role both in financing balance-of-payments deficits and in articulating appropriate adjustment strategies through the conditionality that both institutions can bring to bear on debtor nations.

If provisioning exacerbates the debt problem by increasing the incentive for debtors to default, it increases the need for compensating action. Provisioning can be seen as an effort by the commercial banks to extricate themselves from their involvement in developing countries—certainly in the form it has taken over recent years—and it leaves a vacuum to be filled by the multilateral agencies.⁹

⁹ For a discussion of how the banks view *their* future contribution to financing economic development, see Institute of International Finance (1987). The emphasis is on projects and on backing the domestic private sector.

This is a reasonable description of views within the banking community. The unanimous feeling is that the official sector, fairly widely defined, should be doing more to help resolve the debt problem, not only by making financial concessions and refurbishing conditionality, but also by orchestrating and taking the lead in the approach to third-world debt. An important implication of greater provisioning is that it increases the likelihood of such an expanded role for the official sector.

In the shorter term, debtor countries facing greater difficulties in refinancing their loans from the private sector may find it increasingly difficult to meet their outstanding obligations to the multilateral agencies. Some may fall into arrears. The agencies are therefore not exempt from the default concerns of the private sector.

While the banks are certainly not in a position to opt out of the debt problem, it would seem appropriate to shift the burden more toward the official sector. To the extent that provisioning assists such a shift, it could be of advantage to the international financial system. Provisioning by commercial banks will force the regulatory and tax authorities within the official sector to state their attitudes more clearly. This could result in tensions within the sector. Regulators anxious to sustain the security and stability of the financial system can be expected to welcome additional provisioning, as indeed they have done. The tax authorities, on the other hand, may not be anxious to make the tax concessions that would encourage provisioning. Moreover, the wing of the official sector that deals more directly with financial flows to the developing world may be worried about the effects of provisioning on total flows.

Finally, it would be a mistake if this discussion gave the impression that commercial-bank provisioning is of the greatest strategic importance. Many of its implications are marginal, and they are frequently uncertain. Indeed, some commentators have argued that a central implication of provisioning is the additional uncertainty it generates. Compared with the principal issues associated with the resolution of the third-world debt problem, provisioning is probably of limited importance. Its greatest significance could be as a reflection of a change in the attitude of the banks, but it is difficult to be certain of the extent of such a change.

5 Are Provisions Adequate?

One important question raised by the commercial-bank provisioning of mid-1987 is whether the level of reserves achieved was adequate. Some U.S. banks apparently concluded that it was not. The larger regional banks, like the Bank of Boston, increased provisions to about 50 percent of their LDC exposure toward the end of 1987, an increase not matched by the money-center banks. Table 3 demonstrates the difference in reserves held by the major U.S. banks even before that, in September 1987. Among the four with the largest LDC exposures (over \$8 billion each), reserves comprised, on average, 21.5 percent of LDC exposures, while in the third group, with exposures between \$300 million and \$2 billion, the reserve ratio was 34.6 percent, more than 60 percent higher.

TABLE 3

RESERVES OF MAJOR U.S. BANKS AS A PERCENTAGE OF EXPOSURE, BY DEGREE OF EXPOSURE, SEPTEMBER 1987

Exposures	Average Reserves		
Over \$8 billion (Citicorp, Bank of America, Chase Manhattan, Manufacturers Hanover)	21.5%		
Between \$2 billion and \$6 billion (Chemical, J. P. Morgan, Bankers Trust, First Chicago, Continental Illinois)	26.4%		
Between \$300 million and \$2 billion (Wells Fargo, Security Pacific, Marine Midland, Mellon, First Republic, Bank of Boston, Bank of New York, PNC Financial Corporation, First Bank System, Bank of			
New England	34.6%		

SOURCE: IBCA Banking Analysis, London.

On top of this, some banks with smaller LDC exposures, such as Amex, have begun to talk publicly about debt relief (see Robinson, 1988) and have also begun to write down or write off a proportion of their LDC exposure. During 1987-88, for example, Republic Bank of New York wrote down some of its Mexican public-sector debt; the Bank of Boston wrote off about 20 percent (\$200 million) of its Latin American loans, an action followed by two other U.S. regional banks; and Amex Bank wrote off all its privatesector loans to Latin America. In the case of the Bank of Boston's decision to increase its provisions and write off loans, it is interesting to note that a new chairman had recently been appointed who was anxious to make an impact by raising the profile of the bank and creating the image of a "superregional." Actions on third-world debt provided a way of generating a higher profile and attempting to create a competitive edge. This episode further confirms the possibility raised by the Citibank and National Westminster Bank decisions that internal bank politics are an important factor in explaining provisioning.

One way to approach the question of the adequacy of provisioning is to compare actual provisioning with the market discount on LDC debt. Data on the market prices of a sample of such debt over the period 1985-88 show

that, with the exclusion of Peru, the average discount on the debt of the five largest Latin American debtors was nearly 35 percent in April 1987 and about 52.5 percent by March 1988.

The connection between the size of the discount on LDC debt and the amount of provisioning required is to some extent supported by admittedly sketchy information on individual-country provisioning by the banks. In broad terms, bankers report that provisions are highest against the countries that have the greatest discount on their debt in the secondary market. The relationship is by no means perfect, however. In 1986, for example, some banks were setting aside much higher provisions against Brazilian debt than against Venezuelan debt, even though there was a marginally higher discount on Venezuelan debt in the secondary market. At the same time, provisions against Argentine debt were much higher than against Chilean debt, even though there was very little difference in the secondary values of their debt.

If the market valuation of LDC debt is an accurate indicator of risk and of its net present value, it would appear that many banks are still underprovisioned. However, it is not entirely clear whether the market valuation of debt is an accurate measure of the extent to which the banks should provision. First, there is the argument that the market is too thin and vulnerable to distortions to provide a balanced assessment of risk. Second, some bankers say that the debt is worth more to them than its market value suggests because the banks have leverage with the debtor countries. Third, bankers have maintained that their superior position with respect to participation in debt-equity swaps and the rate of return on such investments serves to raise the value of the debt to them as compared with the market valuation. 10 Leading bankers have argued that they do not expect to have to use the entire amount of their loan-loss reserves. Moreover, some observers have interpreted the apparent unattractiveness of the December 1987 Mexican debt swap to the money-center banks to mean that the major banks still value their loans to developing countries well above the secondary-market price.

There is some doubt about these arguments. The degree of current participation gives reason to believe that the secondary market is relatively efficient and provides as good a guide as anything to the net present value of developing-country debt. 11 Similarly, it can be argued that the leverage on policy exerted by the banks is activated via the intermediation of the IMF

¹⁰ For this reason, Citibank has argued that the effective discount is no more than 20 percent and not the higher level shown by the secondary market.

¹¹ About 250 banks and 50 nonfinancial companies are reported to be trading in the market, with the turnover estimated at \$10 to \$15 billion. Salomon Brothers has stated that, at this level of business, market prices represent a more reliable consensus than the subjective opinions of top banking executives currently accepted by creditors.

and the World Bank, and that this will be incorporated in the market's valuation. Furthermore, the returns to equity investment are available to all participants in debt-equity swaps and not just to the banks, and it is doubtful whether the banks possess superior information on investment opportunities. Finally, evidence provided by Lamdany (1988) suggests that the bid offer prices made by the banks for newly issued Mexican bonds were consistent with the claim that the secondary-market price is a reasonably accurate measure of perceived risk.

Taking secondary-market valuations as the best available guide to country risk, what are the implications for the banks of raising provisions to the levels that these valuations imply? Calculations suggest that additional global provisions of about \$14 billion would have been appropriate in 1987, raising total global provisions to about \$85 billion. By 1988, very much larger provisions would have been warranted by the sizable fall in the secondary-market price of LDC debt. Just taking fifteen U.S. banks with LDC exposure in excess of \$1 billion, it would appear that by March 1988 their reserves were some \$20 billion short of the required value implied by the secondary-market price of LDC debt. This suggests that these banks needed to more than double their provisions. Indeed, on this basis provisions appear, in many cases, to have been less adequate in early 1988 than they were before the increase in mid-1987. The Bank of England matrix confirms that provisions at 25 percent were inadequate in early 1988. Additional provisions in the amounts mentioned here would have important implications for the balance sheets of the provisioning banks. The general absence of further increases in reserves suggests that the banks have deemed them to have unacceptable consequences for short-term earnings, profits, and capital adequacy. 12 Instead, many of the larger banks have attempted to increase the ratio of provisions to LDC exposures by reducing their exposures.

6 Concluding Remarks

By itself, commercial-bank provisioning has made only a marginal contribution toward resolving the problem of third-world debt. Indeed, to the extent that it discourages the banks from making new loans, provisioning has deepened rather than alleviated the financing problems faced by the highly indebted developing countries and has increased the risk of default.

¹² Phillips and Drew, in their regular review of the U.K. clearing banks, point out how difficult it is to make interbank comparisons of the adequacy of provisions. However, the ratio of provisions to nonperforming loans for the British banking industry as a whole increased from 105 percent in 1981 to 124 percent in 1987. Thus, provisions have been rising relative to nonperforming loans, showing a more conservative attitude on the part of bank managements. Of course, this does not necessarily mean that provisions were adequate in 1987; it could simply indicate how inadequate they were in earlier years.

Yet provisioning is consistent with various approaches to the problem of third-world debt. It is consistent with an approach based on the market mechanism, since it facilitates debt swaps by the banks and the further evolution of a secondary market in developing-country debt. Banks have increasingly sought to improve their reserve ratios by reducing their LDC exposure through debt sales and swaps. Provisioning is also consistent with plans for a more highly structured approach that incorporates an element of relief for the debtors. While provisioning makes new money less likely and most bankers publicly resist the notion of debt relief, provisioning makes it easier for the banks to move toward writedowns and at least partial forgiveness.

There are compelling reasons to believe that an initiative based on the provision of some relief to debtors is necessary if the debt problem is to be managed successfully over the next few years. Factors similar to those that encouraged the banks to add to their provisions are likely to put growing pressure on them to consider the relief option seriously. If the banks do begin to make greater use of debt relief, then their decision to add to provisions in mid-1987 may be seen later as an important strategic step in their changing posture toward the problem of third-world debt.

References

- Bird, Graham, "New Approaches to Country Risk," *Lloyds Bank Review*, No. 162 (October 1986), pp. 1-16.
- ——, "Debt Swapping in Developing Countries: A Preliminary Investigation," Journal of Development Studies, 24 (April 1988), pp. 293-309.
- ——, Commercial Bank Lending and Third-World Debt, London, Macmillan, 1989.
- Cohen, Benjamin J., "The Political Economy of LDC Debt," August 1988, unpublished.
- Guttentag, Jack M., and Richard Herring, Accounting for Losses on Sovereign Debt: Implications for New Lending, Essays in International Finance No. 172, Princeton, N.J., Princeton University, International Finance Section, May 1989.
- Institute of International Finance, Restoring Market Access: New Directions in Bank Lending, Washington, June 1987.
- Lamdany, Ruben, "Bolivia, Mexico and Beyond . . . ," Washington, World Bank, June 1988, unpublished.
- Robinson, James D., "A Comprehensive Agenda for LDC Debt and World Trade Growth," Amex Bank Review, Special Papers No. 13, March 1988.
- Sachs, Jeffrey D., New Approaches to the Latin American Debt Crisis, Essays in International Finance No. 174, Princeton, N.J., Princeton University, International Finance Section, July 1989.
- Sachs, Jeffrey, and Harry Huizinga, "U.S. Commercial Banks and the Developing Country Debt Crisis," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* (No. 2, 1987), pp. 555-601.

PUBLICATIONS OF THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

Notice to Contributors

The International Finance Section publishes papers in four series: ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE, PRINCETON STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE, and SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNATIONAL ECONOMICS, all of which contain new work not published elsewhere, and Reprints in International Finance, which reproduce journal articles published elsewhere by Princeton faculty associated with the Section. The Section welcomes the submission of manuscripts for publication as ESSAYS, STUDIES, and SPECIAL PAPERS.

Essays are meant to disseminate new views about international financial matters and should be accessible to well-informed nonspecialists as well as to professional economists. Technical terms, tables, and charts should be used sparingly; mathematics should be avoided.

STUDIES and SPECIAL PAPERS are meant for manuscripts too long for journal articles and too short for books. Hence, they may be longer and more technical than ESSAYS. STUDIES are devoted to new research on international finance (with preference given to empirical work). They should be comparable in originality and technical proficiency to papers published in the leading journals. SPECIAL PAPERS are surveys of research on particular topics and should be suitable for use in undergraduate courses. They may be concerned with international trade as well as international finance.

Submit three copies of your manuscript. Retain one for your files. Your manuscript should be typed on one side of 8½ by 11 strong white paper; all materials should be double spaced, including quotations, footnotes, references, and figure legends. For further guidance, write for the Section's style guide before preparing your manuscript, and follow it carefully.

How to Obtain Publications

The Section's publications are distributed free of charge to college, university, and public libraries and to nongovernmental, nonprofit research institutions. Eligible institutions should ask to be placed on the Section's permanent mailing list.

Individuals and institutions that do not qualify for free distribution can receive all publications by paying \$30 per calendar year. (Those who subscribe during the year will receive all publications issued earlier that year.)

Publications can be ordered individually. Essays and Reprints cost \$6.50 each; Studies and Special Papers cost \$9. Payment must be made when ordering, and \$1.25 must be added for postage and handling. (An additional \$1.50 should be added for airmail delivery outside the United States, Canada, and Mexico.)

All payments must be made in U.S. dollars. (Subscription fees and charges for single issues will be waived for organizations and individuals in countries whose foreign-exchange regulations prohibit such payments.)

Address manuscripts, correspondence, subscriptions, and orders to:

International Finance Section
Department of Economics, Dickinson Hall
Princeton University
Princeton, New Jersey 08544-1017

Subscribers should notify the Section promptly of any change of address, giving the old address as well as the new.

List of Recent Publications

To obtain a complete list of publications, write the International Finance Section.

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- 147. Edmar Lisboa Bacha and Carlos F. Díaz Alejandro, International Financial Intermediation: A Long and Tropical View. (May 1982)
- 148. Alan A. Rabin and Leland B. Yeager, Monetary Approaches to the Balance of Payments and Exchange Rates. (Nov. 1982)
- 149. C. Fred Bergsten, Rudiger Dornbusch, Jacob A. Frenkel, Steven W. Kohlhagen, Luigi Spaventa, and Thomas D. Willett, From Rambouillet to Versailles: A Symposium. (Dec. 1982)
- 150. Robert E. Baldwin, The Inefficacy of Trade Policy. (Dec. 1982)
- 151. Jack Guttentag and Richard Herring, The Lender-of-Last Resort Function in an International Context. (May 1983)
- 152. G. K. Helleiner, The IMF and Africa in the 1980s. (July 1983)
- 153. Rachel McCulloch, Unexpected Real Consequences of Floating Exchange Rates. (Aug. 1983)
- 154. Robert M. Dunn, Jr., The Many Disappointments of Floating Exchange Rates. (Dec. 1983)
- 155. Stephen Marris, Managing the World Economy: Will We Ever Learn? (Oct. 1984)
- 156. Sebastian Edwards, The Order of Liberalization of the External Sector in Developing Countries. (Dec. 1984)
- 157. Wilfred J. Ethier and Richard C. Marston, eds., with Kindleberger, Guttentag and Herring, Wallich, Henderson, and Hinshaw, International Financial Markets and Capital Movements: A Symposium in Honor of Arthur I. Bloomfield. (Sept. 1985)
- 158. Charles E. Dumas, The Effects of Government Deficits: A Comparative Analysis of Crowding Out. (Oct. 1985)
- 159. Jeffrey A. Frankel, Six Possible Meanings of "Overvaluation": The 1981-85 Dollar. (Dec. 1985)
- Stanley W. Black, Learning from Adversity: Policy Responses to Two Oil Shocks. (Dec. 1985)
- 161. Alexis Rieffel, The Role of the Paris Club in Managing Debt Problems. (Dec. 1985)
- 162. Stephen E. Haynes, Michael M. Hutchison, and Raymond F. Mikesell, *Japanese Financial Policies and the U.S. Trade Deficit*. (April 1986)
- Arminio Fraga, German Reparations and Brazilian Debt: A Comparative Study. (July 1986)
- 164. Jack M. Guttentag and Richard J. Herring, Disaster Myopia in International Banking. (Sept. 1986)
- Rudiger Dornbusch, Inflation, Exchange Rates, and Stabilization. (Oct. 1986)
- 166. John Spraos, IMF Conditionality: Ineffectual, Inefficient, Mistargeted. (Dec. 1986)
- 167. Rainer Stefano Masera, An Increasing Role for the ECU: A Character in Search of a Script. (June 1987)
- 168. Paul Mosley, Conditionality as Bargaining Process: Structural-Adjustment Lending, 1980-86. (Oct. 1987)
- 169. Paul A. Volcker, Ralph C. Bryant, Leonhard Gleske, Gottfried Haberler, Alexandre Lamfalussy, Shijuro Ogata, Jesús Silva-Herzog, Ross M. Starr,

- James Tobin, and Robert Triffin, International Monetary Cooperation: Essays in Honor of Henry C. Wallich. (Dec. 1987)
- 170. Shafiqul Islam, The Dollar and the Policy-Performance-Confidence Mix. (July 1988)
- 171. James Boughton, The Monetary Approach to Exchange Rates: What Now Remains? (Oct. 1988)
- 172. Jack M. Guttentag and Richard Herring, Accounting for Losses on Sovereign Debt: Implications for New Lending. (May 1989)
- 173. Benjamin J. Cohen, Developing-Country Debt: A Middle Way. (May 1989)
- 174. Jeffrey D. Sachs, New Approaches to the Latin American Debt Crisis. (July 1989)
- 175. C. David Finch, The IMF: The Record and the Prospect. (Sept. 1989)
- 176. Graham Bird, Loan-Loss Provisions and Third-World Debt. (Nov. 1989)

PRINCETON STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- 49. Peter Bernholz, Flexible Exchange Rates in Historical Perspective. (July 1982)
- 50. Victor Argy, Exchange-Rate Management in Theory and Practice. (Oct. 1982)
- 51. Paul Wonnacott, U.S. Intervention in the Exchange Market for DM, 1977-80. (Dec. 1982)
- 52. Irving B. Kravis and Robert E. Lipsey, Toward an Explanation of National Price Levels. (Nov. 1983)
- 53. Avraham Ben-Bassat, Reserve-Currency Diversification and the Substitution Account. (March 1984)
- *54. Jeffrey Sachs, Theoretical Issues in International Borrowing. (July 1984)
- 55. Marsha R. Shelburn, Rules for Regulating Intervention under a Managed Float. (Dec. 1984)
- 56. Paul De Grauwe, Marc Janssens, and Hilde Leliaert, Real-Exchange-Rate Variability from 1920 to 1926 and 1973 to 1982. (Sept. 1985)
- 57. Stephen S. Golub, The Current-Account Balance and the Dollar: 1977-78 and 1983-84. (Oct. 1986)
- 58. John T. Cuddington, Capital Flight: Estimates, Issues, and Explanations. (Dec. 1986)
- 59. Vincent P. Crawford, International Lending, Long-Term Credit Relationships, and Dynamic Contract Theory. (March 1987)
- 60. Thorvaldur Gylfason, Credit Policy and Economic Activity in Developing Countries with IMF Stabilization Programs. (Aug. 1987)
- 61. Stephen A. Schuker, American "Reparations" to Germany, 1919-33: Implications for the Third-World Debt Crisis. (July 1988)
- 62. Steven B. Kamin, Devaluation, External Balance, and Macroeconomic Performance: A Look at the Numbers. (Aug. 1988)
- 63. Jacob A. Frenkel and Assaf Razin, Spending, Taxes, and Deficits: International-Intertemporal Approach. (Dec. 1988)
- Jeffrey A. Frankel, Obstacles to International Macroeconomic Policy Coordination. (Dec. 1988)
- * Out of print. Available on demand in xerographic paperback or library-bound copies from University Microfilms International, Box 1467, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48106, United States, and 30-32 Mortimer St., London, WIN 7RA, England. Paperback reprints are usually \$20. Microfilm of all Essays by year is also available from University Microfilms. Photocopied sheets of out-of-print titles are available on demand from the Section at \$9 per Essay and \$11 per Study or Special Paper, plus \$1.25 for postage and handling.

65. Peter Hooper and Catherine L. Mann, The Emergence and Persistence of the U.S. External Imbalance, 1980-87. (Oct. 1989)

SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNATIONAL ECONOMICS

- 13. Louka T. Katseli-Papaefstratiou, The Reemergence of the Purchasing Power Parity Doctrine in the 1970s. (Dec. 1979)
- *14. Morris Goldstein, Have Flexible Exchange Rates Handicapped Macroeconomic Policy? (June 1980)
 - 15. Gene M. Grossman and J. David Richardson, Strategic Trade Policy: A Survey of Issues and Early Analysis. (April 1985)

REPRINTS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- Jorge Braga de Macedo, Exchange Rate Behavior with Currency Inconvertibility. [Reprinted from Journal of International Economics, 12 (Feb. 1982).]
 (Sept. 1982)
- 23. Peter B. Kenen, Use of the SDR to Supplement or Substitute for Other Means of Finance. [Reprinted from George M. von Furstenberg, ed., International Money and Credit: The Policy Roles, Washington, IMF, 1983, Chap. 7.] (Dec. 1983)
- Peter B. Kenen, Forward Rates, Interest Rates, and Expectations under Alternative Exchange Rate Regimes. [Reprinted from Economic Record, 61 (Sept. 1985).] (June 1986)
- 25. Jorge Braga de Macedo, Trade and Financial Interdependence under Flexible Exchange Rates: The Pacific Area. [Reprinted from Augustine H.H. Tan and Basant Kapur, eds., Pacific Growth and Financial Interdependence, Sydney, Australia, Allen and Unwin, 1986, Chap. 13.] (June 1986)



